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I. STATEMENT

1. On June 30, 2010, the Town of Silverton, Colorado (Silverton) and San Juan County, Colorado (San Juan) (Jointly Silverton/San Juan or Complainants), filed their Complaint against Qwest Communications Corporation (QCC) seeking declaratory relief, specific performance, and other relief.  

2. On July 16, 2010, the Commission issued its Order to Satisfy and Answer.

3. During the Commission’s weekly meeting held July 14, 2011, the Commission referred this matter to an administrative law judge (ALJ) for disposition.

4. On July 16, 2011, the matter was set for hearing by the Commission’s Notice of Hearing.  The hearing was set for August 25 and 26, 2010.
5. By Decision No. R10-0835-I, issued August 2, 2010, the Unopposed Motion for Leave to Amend Complaint, for a Variance of Commission Rules and for Waiver of Response Time was granted.  The Complaint filed in the above-captioned proceeding was amended as set forth in the Amended Complaint (Complaint) filed herein on July 30, 2010, variance of Commission rules was granted, and QCC was ordered to satisfy the matters in the Complaint or answer the Complaint.

6. By Decision No. R10-0909-I, mailed August 18, 2010, the hearing in the matter was vacated upon joint motion of the parties.

7. By Decision No. R10-0951-I, mailed August 30, 2010, Qwest Corporation's (Qwest or Respondent) Motion to Dismiss was denied.

8. On August 9, 2010, Qwest filed its Answer.

9. By Decision No. R10-0956-I, mailed August 30, 2010, Complainants’ request for public hearing was denied, but the location of the hearing was changed to Silverton, Colorado.

10. By Decision No. R10-1017-I, mailed September 15, 2010, a hearing was scheduled and procedures were established. 

11. By Decision No. R10-1269-I, mailed November 24, 2010, further procedures were ordered to make the best use of limited scheduled hearing time, given the scope of witness testimony disclosed.

12. On December 10, 2011, Qwest filed its Motion to Limit Hearing Testimony to Issues in Complaint.  As a preliminary matter at the beginning of hearing, Complainants orally responded to the motion.  The motion was denied without prejudice as an attempt to overly restrict testimony regarding matters preliminarily disclosed.  Additionally, the motion rests upon an overly narrow view of the Complaint.  

13. At the scheduled time and place, the matter was called for hearing.  During the course of the hearing, testimony was received from Patrick Swonger, Wyatt R. Carmack, Peter C. Maisel, Anthony Edwards, Greg Swanson, Edwin P. Morlan, Daryl Branson, and Corey Bryndal on behalf of Complainants and Michael G. Williams, Philip Linse, Peter Beaudette, and Murk Mansell on behalf of Qwest.  Exhibits 1 through 8, 9C, 10C, 11 through 22, 23C, and 24 though 25 were identified, offered, and admitted into evidence.  Those exhibits designated with a "C" (i.e., 9C) were admitted as confidential exhibits subject to protections afforded by the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure.

14. In accordance with § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the undersigned ALJ now transmits to the Commission the record and exhibits in this proceeding along with a written recommended decision.

II. FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS
15. Complainant Silverton is the county seat of, and an incorporated municipality in, San Juan County, Colorado.  The population of Silverton is approximately 550, according to the 2000 census report.  

16. Complainant San Juan is one of 64 counties in the State of Colorado.  For all practical purposes, the population of San Juan County is equivalent to the population of Silverton.

17. Respondent is a corporation organized under the laws of, and qualified to do business within, the State of Colorado. Qwest's business address is: 1801 California Avenue, Denver, Colorado.

18. Qwest is a local exchange carrier and provider of local exchange telecommunications services, as those terms are defined by Rules 2001(ccc) and (ddd) of the Rules Regulating Telecommunications Providers, Services, and Products, 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-2, respectively.

19. Qwest provides telecommunications services throughout the State of Colorado, including San Juan County, Colorado, pursuant to a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity issued by the Commission.

20. Silverton is unique because of the exponential changes in the number of people in town from tourism through the summer season, generally late June through September.  During these months, the Durango and Silverton Narrow Gauge Railway generally transports numerous tourists, arriving at approximately noon and departing at approximately 4:00 p.m.  Demand for services dependent upon Qwest facilities peaks when the train departs Silverton in the afternoon.  Suddenly, visiting groups are meeting and credit cards are being processed as tourists prepare to leave, in addition to normal and routine telecommunications traffic.

21. The Colorado Information Technology Services, as a Division of the Department of Personnel, issued the Request for Proposal for Multi-Use Network: Infrastructure Development Statewide Telecommunication Service Aggregation and Network Management dated October 22, 1999 (RFP); a copy of the RFP is attached as Exhibit 1 to the Amended Complaint.  Hearing Exhibit 2.

22. Qwest responded to the RFP on or about February 4, 2000; a copy of that response is attached as Exhibit 2 to the Amended Complaint.  Hearing Exhibit 3.

23. Qwest entered a contract (the MNT Contract) with the State of Colorado, acting by and through the Department of Personnel, General Support Services, Colorado Information Technology Services, Telecommunication Services, on or about June 23, 2000; a copy of the MNT Contract is attached as Exhibit 3 to the Amended Complaint.  Hearing Exhibit 4.

24. The original MNT Contract provided for construction of a statewide fiber network connecting each county seat in the state.

25. A Bilateral Change Order to the MNT Contract (Change Order) was entered into on or about April 1, 2003; a copy of the Change Order is attached to the Complaint as Exhibit 4.  Hearing Exhibit 5.  This modification permitted Qwest to serve Silverton via microwave radio to meet contractual commitments while fiber construction in progress continued and easements were pursued “to continue fiber construction between La Plata-San Juan County line and Silverton with a ready-for-service date of June 30, 2005.”  Hearing Exhibit 5.  The Change Order modifying the agreement was not caused by any preference for microwave over fiber build.  
26. For purposes of the matters alleged in the Complaint, Silverton/San Juan do not assert that Qwest breached, materially or otherwise, the terms of the MNT Contract, as amended.

27. The Colorado “Multi-Use Network" Project Completion Report, dated October 3, 2003, summarized accomplishments of the Colorado MNT project.  Hearing Exhibit 11.  The State paid “to reserve 20 Megabits per second of bandwidth at each of these ANAPs for public sector use. This income stream allows Qwest and its partners to establish fiber-optic points of presence in rural parts of Colorado where an adequate business case did not exist prior to the MNT.”  Hearing Exhibit 11 at i. Using the public sector as an anchor tenant, the MNT project connected urban and rural communities across the state, bridging the digital divide.   Hearing Exhibit 11 at i.  This network “provides a pipeline to the state's rural areas capable of supporting growth in existing and new industries while also providing access for public sector services in healthcare, education and government.”  Id. at ii.  The report recites a timeline of construction of a fiber backbone to every county in the state, except San Juan County.  

28. As a result of the MNT Contract, Qwest connected each county seat in the state to a statewide fiber network, except San Juan County.  Qwest did not build fiber to Silverton but instead continues to provide service to Silverton through microwave transmission facilities.  Without construction of fiber to the county seat of San Juan County, the county will likely remain an asterisk forever.  See Hearing Exhibit 11 at 9.

29. Qwest’s Silverton central office is, essentially, a remote central office. Minimal processing occurs in Silverton.  Rather, most of the operation or call processing occurs at the host located in the Durango central office.  The office is an aggregation point for local loops, which connect individual customer premises to the central location.  For telephone service, the loops connect to Qwest’s switch in Silverton.  

30. Qwest’s Silverton central office connects to the Silverton junction repeater location south of Silverton via a fiber-optic cable (an Optical Carrier Level 3 connection (OC‑3)).
  That facility transmits a digital radio signal to a reflector southeast of Silverton that continues the transmission to the Coal Bank Pass repeater, then on to the Missionary Ridge location.  From Missionary Ridge, the signal is transmitted to the Durango central office.  Utilizing the foregoing equipment, Qwest provides OC-3 capacity end-to-end from Durango to Silverton.  

31. Silverton has been served via microwave radio since the 1980s.  Until 2006, this microwave connection consisted of a DS-3 facility, providing 45 megabits per second (Mbps) of transmission capacity.  In 2006, Qwest tripled the capacity of the connection, providing an OC‑3 connection.  In addition to the "live" OC-3, Qwest also provisioned an active "hot spare" OC-3 for redundancy.  The 2006 upgrade also provided synchronized optical network functionality, which provides network synchronization and eliminates latency.  Since the microwave radio was upgraded to a synchronous digital radio, Qwest reports three outages in Silverton during January 2007.
32. The microwave radio system uses an 11 gigahertz band transmission capable of transmitting over individual hops at 30 or 35 miles.

33. The microwave path connects Missionary Ridge facilities to a receiving station in Silverton, taking several hops including distances of 22 miles and 9.6 miles.  While the microwave path is scalable, the capacity of microwave is limited by the length of hops as higher capacities require shorter hops.

34. Qwest uses microwave technologies throughout the State of Colorado for providing basic service.  All of the equipment installed by Qwest is carrier level/carrier grade equipment. The microwave radio system is similar to other systems used by Qwest in Arizona, Montana, and Utah.  Facilities serving Silverton are engineered to provide carrier grade levels of service and reliability - 99.999 percent, equating to 5.3 minutes per year of unavailable time for the system.

35. In the event of commercial power failure supplying power to Qwest’s microwave link, a stand-by generator charges batteries that normally supplies power to the microwave system.  If the generator should fail, the microwave radio will continue to operate for the life of the battery power, typically four to eight hours.  

36. Importantly, the allocations of microwave capacity for telephone service, broadband, and wireless/wholesale service are mutually exclusive.  It is technically impossible for one dedicated allocation or circuit to interfere with or degrade traffic from another allocation or circuit.

37. The photographs depicted in Confidential Exhibit PL-I are true and accurate representations of the telecommunications facilities, in relevant part, that Qwest uses to provide regulated and unregulated telecommunications services to Silverton.  Hearing Exhibit 9C.

38. Exhibit PL-2 depicts, in relevant part, the telecommunications network Qwest uses to provide regulated and unregulated telecommunications services to Silverton.  Hearing Exhibit 6.

39. Ten DS-1s within the OC-3 bandwidth are currently dedicated to connecting the Silverton remote switch and the Durango host switch for the provision of local and long-distance calling.  With this utilization, current capacity supports 240 simultaneous telephone calls.  

40. The capacity for voice service was designed at a 6-to-1 or an 8-to-1 concentration of subscribers to access lines.  Qwest has approximately 480 access lines for landline type service. 

41. There is a DS-3 level of capacity dedicated to DSL or broadband types of services.  A DS-3 supports approximately 45 Mbps of bandwidth.  Thus, seven DSL subscribers to Qwest’s seven Mbps internet service simultaneously utilizing the service could exhaust available capacity, assuming the service is available as described and without regard to the 20 Mbps of bandwidth reserved under the MNT Contract.
  

42. Qwest has approximately 220 subscribers for DSL service in Silverton.  Over the 12 weeks prior to hearing, peak demand of DSL subscribers utilized approximately half of the total available capacity (ignoring amounts reserved under the MNT Contract).

43. Finally, 22 DS1s are dedicated to wholesale or private line services.  While less is known of capacity utilization, available capacity is clearly exhaustible during periods of higher seasonal demand.  Approximately 22 DS-1s of capacity remain available to meet future demand.  

44. Qwest is subject to certain retail service quality obligations set forth in the Rules Regulating Telecommunications Providers, Services, and Products, 4 CCR 723-2, and the Stipulation and Settlement Agreement (AFOR) approved in Decision No. C05-0802, Docket Nos. 04A-411T and 04D-440T issued June 28, 2005. 

45. Qwest routinely measures and reports its retail service quality performance under the continued automatic remedies and reporting requirements and Commission rules as depicted in Exhibit MGW-001, Hearing Exhibit 7.  Qwest's performance under the standards identified in MGW-001 is reflected, in part, in Exhibits MGW 002-005, for the times identified therein.  

46. Qwest’s service to Silverton/San Juan meets or exceeds service quality standards defined under the AFOR and are representative of similar wire centers.  

47. Qwest has several wire centers in Colorado without any broadband or DSL access.

48. In approving the AFOR, the Commission acknowledged that the settlement continued certain then-current automatic remedies and reporting requirements from the price and service quality regulation plan implemented as a result of Docket No. 97A-540T.
  Decision No. C05-0802 at 50-51.  Addressing concerns as to the adequacy of service quality remedies, the service quality metrics were recognized not to be exclusive or comprehensive.  The Commission retains “its after-the-fact authority to address complaints as well as authority to re-impose regulation if unforeseen consequences arise subsequent to implementing the new regulatory plan.”  Decision No. C05-0802 at 51.

49. Mr. Swonger is a resident of Silverton and managing partner of Videon Communications, which holds a cable TV franchise from Silverton.
  He has also been a Town Trustee on the Town Board for the Town of Silverton for approximately six years.  In the past, he has worked as an emergency medical technician, been trained in search and rescue work, and driven an ambulance.

50. Mr. Swonger contends a fiber divide, remains between Silverton and the rest of the state due to different capabilities to address present and future needs via fiber, versus the radio link.  He founded Operation Link-Up, a coalition trying to improve telecommunications in Silverton, and serves as co-chairman.  The coalition was formed to further local interests arising from the MNT Contract. The coalition contends that the future of Silverton, as every other county seat and county, is dependent upon the fiber-optic initiative.  Concerns for advancement and benefit include 9-1-1, basic phone services, cell phone capabilities, and advanced services from the Internet. 

51. Mr. Carmack is a resident of Silverton who owns Outdoor World, a full-end sporting goods store in Silverton, Colorado.

52. Mr. Maisel is a Silverton resident who owns and operates the Bent Elbow Restaurant and Hotel (Bent Elbow) and Maisel Excavation, LLC (both are businesses in Silverton, Colorado).

53. Mr. Edwards is an attorney and Silverton resident.  He is also the owner’s representative for the local school district on a rehabilitation project and has been active representing community interests as to the MNT project.  From 2000 to 2004, he was the Director of the San Juan Development Association.  

54. Mr. Swanson is a retired school teacher residing in Silverton.  He currently serves as President of the San Juan County Development Association.  He and his wife own Adelaide’s Antiques, an antique shop in Silverton, Colorado.  Virtually all of the shop’s seasonal business comes from tourism.

55. Mr. Morlan is the Executive Director of the Region 9 Economic Development District of Southwest Colorado.  The region is comprised of Archuletta, La Plata, Montezuma, Dolores, and San Juan Counties.

56. Mr. Branson is the Executive Director of the Colorado 9-1-1 Resource Center.  The Colorado 9-1-1 Resource Center is an independent 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization that exists to provide an information conduit and support services for the 9-1-1 calling centers and 9‑1-1 authorities across the State of Colorado.

57. Mr. Bryndal is the managing partner of the Connect 22 PacketRail Optical Networking (PacketRail) based in Durango, Colorado.  PacketRail is an optical network operations firm that designs, builds, and operates fiber-optic telecommunications networks providing a mix of basic and advanced services.  His prior experience includes working as a systems engineer at Cisco Systems supporting Qwest's engineering group and Level 3’s global architecture group.

58. Mr. Williams is a Senior Director in Public Policy for Qwest, with responsibility for regulatory service quality requirements across the nation for Qwest.

59. Mr. Linse is Director of Legal Issues for Network for Qwest.

60. Mr. Beaudette is Area Manager on the Western Slope for Qwest.  He is responsible for engineering, construction, installation and maintenance, and central office operations for Qwest’s territory from Grand Junction to Durango. 

61. Mr. Mansell is a right-of-way manager for Qwest.

62. Since issuance of the MNT project completion report, it has become clear that Qwest is no longer pursuing rights of way or fiber construction to Silverton.  Qwest advocates that the existing microwave system meets the current and future needs of Silverton/San Juan as well as all requirements within the Commission’s jurisdiction.  Qwest now concludes there is no business case for construction of fiber facilities to connect Silverton to the MNT Network.  Complainants counter that the lack of specific business case forms the very basis of the original MNT project.

63. Outdoor World processes credit card transactions by telephone only, on telephone line 970-387-5628.
 Outdoor World uses a 2009 Lipman Nurit 2085 POS EDS Terminal for credit card processing.

64. Outdoor World uses Peak Card Services to process credit card transactions. Peak Card Services offers credit card processing over broadband and/or internet.

65. Although he never complained to the credit card processor, Mr. Carmack contends that credit card processing is sporadic and takes longer during times of peak demand.  Calls take approximately 20 seconds and may require redialing one out of ten attempts.

66. Outdoor World is also the only official state wildlife agent in San Juan County.  In this capacity, data is input and transmitted to State systems via dial up modem over a telephone line.  Should the call drop, all data must be reentered.  Mr. Carmack testified that he experienced similar slow credit card transactions and dropped calls on this line as well.  However, he has never raised concern to anyone.

67. Adelaide's Antiques uses a VeriFone TRANZ 460 for credit card processing credit card processing by telephone only on line 970-387-5302.  

68. Mr. Swanson timed calls for credit card processing to take approximately 10 to 12 seconds for acknowledgement of information receipt.   If that acknowledgement does not come within approximately 30 seconds, without redialing, the transaction must be reprocessed from the beginning.  While redialing is more common, calls are dropped once or twice a week.  The same telephone is used for voice traffic and no issues have occurred with voice calls being dropped.

69. The Bent Elbow uses North American Bancard, to process its credit card transactions by telephone only on line 970-387-5775. North American Bancard offers credit card processing over broadband and/or internet.

70. The Bent Elbow uses a 2009 Hypercom Model T7-Plus for credit card processing.  At hearing, Mr. Maisel explained that telephone line 970-370-5628 is used strictly for credit card processing.

71. During the peak season, Mr. Maisel has problems processing credit card transactions.  Dropped credit card processing calls, or severe latency, occur on approximately one in six attempts, requiring transactions to be reprocessed.  Processing time may increase from 20 to 30 seconds to one to two minutes.

72. Mr. Maisel has not had any problems with his voice service.

73. After complaining to Qwest regarding the quality of service, Qwest recommended obtaining different equipment.  Different equipment resulted in no improvement.  He complained about phone service and was told the problems must be within his own phone system.  Thereafter he had his phone system checked and found no problem within his system.  He attempted utilizing a different telephone line for processing credit card transactions, but there was no improvement.

74. Mr. Maisel also described use of internet services for his excavation business and difficulties transmitting and receiving large email attachments through two different mail servers.  As a result, he often has files emailed to another location for transmission to him via facsimile.  No testimony was offered as to difficulty accepting facsimile transmissions. 

75. Mr. Bryndal has attempted to evaluate the health of Qwest’s network over time with access available to end-use customers.  Although Mr. Bryndal believed that basic voice, internet services, and advanced services were competing for available bandwidth across the microwave connection, he explained that there is typically not a partial disruption of a microwave link.  Thus, he opines that unavailability of the microwave link for one purpose will be equally unavailable for another.

76. A ping test can be conducted using a computer with access to the internet.  The test basically checks connectivity between a computer and a server by sending packets of information.  A trace route is a type of ping test where each router and/or server contacted along the route from the computer to the server sends messages or packets back to the computer.  The route of the return packets is not shown in the trace route test.  However, as pointed out by Mr. Bryndal, all packets returning to a computer connected to the internet in Silverton necessarily must travel across the microwave path.

77. By conducting trace route testing over a period of approximately two years, Mr. Bryndal isolated problems to be beyond local connectivity through Qwest’s central office.  In addition to unavailability, he finds asymmetric unavailability where one path functions properly, while a return path does not.  He has seen such conditions persist for an hour.  He concludes that the microwave system is not performing to the typical standard of five nines.

78. Mr. Bryndal opines that dropped modem transmissions experienced by local vendors result from unavailable seconds in the microwave connection.  He explains that an uncontrolled environment impacts availability of a microwave system including plane variability, stability of dishes, viability of transmitters, medium from the transmitters, the surface, air, moisture, sunspots, etc.  Additionally, avalanches, outages, lightening strikes, bird droppings, and vandalism can impact unavailability.  Anything that can impair the microwave system disrupts service.  

79. For a voice or data connection, unavailability of about 150 milliseconds will cause a connection to drop.  “If the unavailability is that amount of time, or more, the call would certainly drop.”  Tr. December 15 at 29.  

80. Microwave technologically is not binary.  Within tolerances of network systems, degradation can occur.  As a result, if Qwest’s diagnostic systems are not sampling system availability at a sufficient frequency, degradation affecting data transmission (e.g., modem based communication) will not be recorded.

81. A modem, or something that is sending a series of data that needs to be acknowledged, back and forth, multiple times, will cease if transmission is disrupted and attempt to restart the process.  Such data transmissions are less forgiving than voice interruption.  Thus, data transmissions can also be impacted without the subject call being dropped. 

82. Illustrative of his testing over the last two years, Mr. Bryndal described an experience between approximately 8:30 p.m. on December 13, 2010 and 12:00 a.m. on December 14, 2010.  He conducted trace-route testing by pinging a known internet domain name server on Level 3’s network using an internet connection from the Bent Elbow.  He identified hops among visible devices along the path.  Along with connectivity, he measures delay and variance in delay, or “jitter.”  Mr. Bryndal’s trace route identified the first device by IP address, 208.47.143.128. The second device was HLR-EDGE-05.INET.Qwest.NET.  The third device was HLR-CORE-02.INET.Qwest.NET.  The fourth device in line was DVR-CORE-01.INET.Qwest.NET.  The fifth device in line was DVR‑BRDR‑01.INET.Qwest.NET.  Thereafter, the route left Qwest’s network.

83. Mr. Bryndal observed typical delays of 15 to 20 milliseconds rising to over 1000 milliseconds.  He was then unable to trace route beyond the router at the Bent Elbow for nearly 45 minutes. Consistent with prior experience, he concluded that the microwave link was unavailable during the unavailability because he was unable to reach any device beyond Qwest’s microwave link.  Based upon his theory of the microwave system’s operations, the link was equally unavailable for all purposes.

84. Qwest was unable to find any indication of the outage reported by Mr. Bryndal or any problem with the microwave radio or interoffice facilities between Silverton and Durango.

85. Qwest continuously monitors its network resulting in “immediate” notification in the event the entire microwave path was unavailable to the network operations center in Denver.  However, the minimum duration or length of an outage that would be reported to Qwest’s network reliability center varies depending upon the type of outage.   

86. On cross-examination, Qwest admitted that the outage duration that would be sufficient to cause reporting was not known.  Qwest’s system is intended to focus on more serious outages in order to avoid overloading centers with extremely short duration interruptions.

87. After Qwest personnel researched the location of devices identified by Mr. Bryndal, it is clear that Qwest.NET devices described above were located in the Denver metropolitan area, more than 500 cable miles from Silverton and across the microwave link from Silverton discussed herein.

88. Concepts of redundancy and diversity are applied through the 9-1-1 system.  Essentially, redundancy is duplication of a circuit on the fundamental level.  In the event of failure, another piece of equipment takes over without disrupting a communication service.  Diversity is a type of redundancy in which multiple pathways exist, which are completely separate geographically or a physically separate piece of equipment, so an alternate pathway can continue operating and avoid a disruption of service in the event another pathway fails.  Diversity is considered to be a superior form of redundancy.

89. Maintaining proper diversity of communication pathways is cited by the Public Safety and Homeland Security Bureau and the Federal Communications Commission as being important.

90. Basic 9-1-1 service routes an incoming 9-1-1 call to a predetermined seven-digit telephone number.  Qwest does not select Public Safety Answering Points (PSAP) for 9‑1‑1 emergencies, the facilities PSAPs utilize to provide emergency services, or the staffing of PSAPs.

91. E-9-1-1 service (E-9-1-1) combines basic 9-1-1 functionality with automatic name and location identification.  In the event of a disruption of normal service between Silverton and the 9-1-1 Tandem, 9-1-1 calls originating in San Juan County cannot be completed as an E-9-1-1 call.  During disruption, a service referred to as Condition four routing then automatically routes all 9-1-1 calls originating in San Juan County to a seven-digit number within the local service area of that central office determined by the local responding authority, currently the San Juan County Sheriff Department.

92. For Silverton/San Juan, 9-1-1 service is provided via a redundant, but non‑diverse, system between Silverton and Durango.

93. Under normal operations, San Juan County's 9-1-1 calls are answered in Montrose, by the Colorado State Patrol.  Under Condition four routing, those calls are rerouted locally where there are currently no trained 9-1-1 dispatchers.  Also, the San Juan County Sheriff Department is not manned 24 hours per day, 7 days per week.

94. Every area in the state has E-9-1-1 service. Other communities in Colorado do not have diverse 9-1-1 connections.  Considering Silverton/San Juan’s population and location, Qwest opines it is not unusual to lack diversity as compared to areas of similar population.  Concerns are raised as to summer months with a substantial increase in the tourist population.

A. Discussion 

95. The Commission has jurisdiction over this Complaint pursuant § 40-6-108, C.R.S.

96. As Qwest properly points out, the Commission’s jurisdiction is limited.  

1. Burden of Proof
97. Except as otherwise provided by statute, the Administrative Procedure Act imposes the burden of proof in administrative adjudicatory proceedings upon "the proponent of an order."
  As to claims in the Complaint, Complainants are the proponent of the order because they commenced the proceeding and are the proponent of the order as to the Complaint.
  Rule 1500 states:  “Unless previously agreed to or assumed by a party, the burden of proof and the burden of going forward shall be on the party that is the proponent of the order.  The proponent of the order is that party commencing a proceeding…”
    
98. Complainants bear the burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence as to claims stated in the Complaint.
  The preponderance standard requires the finder of fact to determine whether the existence of a contested fact is more probable than its non-existence.
  A party has met this burden of proof when the evidence, on the whole, slightly tips in favor of that party. 

99. “In civil cases, the burden of proof is on the plaintiff to prove the elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.  This burden of proof does not shift during the proceeding, although it may be aided by a presumption or a shift of the burden of going forward with the evidence once the plaintiff has established a prima facie case. ”
  
100. Complainants failed to meet their burden of proof.  In some aspects, applicants failed as a determination of fact.  In part, the failure is to show entitlement to a remedy based upon facts shown.  Finally, Complainants have demonstrated only feasibility providing diverse 9‑1-1 circuits from Silverton to Durango.  

2. Claims Regarding Qwest Facilities

101. Complainants contend that a microwave radio link is technologically inferior to a fiber-optic network and that installation of a fiber-based system placed in tandem with the microwave link would achieve greater reliability, stability, and scalability.  Based upon such technological inferiority, Complainants contend discriminatory service is provided in violation of Rules 2333 and 2308 as well as § 40-15-502(4) C.R.S.

102. Qwest counters that its service complies with all applicable standards within the Commission’s jurisdiction and that no law or facts support a requirement to build fiber to provide additional broadband capacity.

103. The Commission has found right-of-way costs to construct fiber-optic infrastructure to be prudent and reasonable based upon consideration of present and future customers, facts, and circumstances. Decision No. C97-64, mailed January 21, 1997, Docket Nos. 96S-201T and 96A-154T.  By authorizing recovery of costs, the Commission explicitly encouraged introduction of advanced telecommunications technology facilities and service features in rural areas. Id.  Finally, the Commission found that “fiber facilities, as compared with microwave, will provide its customers improved telephone service." Id.

104. The lack of interconnection of San Juan to the state-wide fiber network has affected economic development in Silverton.  Adequacy of telecommunications infrastructure is always a factor in business development activities.  There is a perception in the community and with prospective businesses that access to fiber is necessary to support operations and future development.  

105. Complainants have shown they clearly desire and would benefit from connection of the San Juan County seat to the State-wide fiber network.  The Commission has previously recognized the superiority of fiber optics to microwave, in addition to the intended and at least partial benefits of the MNT project.

106. With provision for basic voice and internet services, fiber enhances stability.  Unavailable errored seconds are lessened as impediments become much smaller in their exposure versus an open-air system subject to uncontrollable variables.  Mr. Bryndal points to these benefits as the reason all other counties in the state are connected to a fiber network.  As to advanced services, he enumerated several services provided elsewhere in the state that are not currently available in Silverton/San Juan due to limitations in the current manner of service as opposed to fiber.

107. The state spent millions of dollars for construction of a fiber-based network to interconnect all of the county seats in the State of Colorado.  Despite the fact that installation of a microwave system to San Juan was cheaper, the original intent of the MNT project was construction of fiber.  The merits of fiber have been acknowledged by the Commission and it simply is not credible that microwave equals fiber in every way.

108. Complainants request fair and equitable access to uniform and universal services and recognition of substandard service since construction of the fiber facility was due to be completed.

109. Undoubtedly, several businesses experience frustration and dissatisfaction with processing credit card transactions utilizing modems in Silverton.  Particularly at times of peak demand, there are substantial complaints regarding dropped calls on credit card processing machines, requiring redials and extended delays for processing.  As a result of these delays, business opportunities are lost as waiting customers abandon intended purchases or become frustrated with vendors.

110. Credit card processing requires a number of interdependent components, only some of which are dependent upon Qwest’s network.  See Hearing Exhibits 19 through 22.  A modem connection from Silverton uses identical facilities that provide voice service.  Complainants failed to show the inadequacy of Qwest’s voice service to Silverton or that Qwest facilities cause the frustration and dissatisfaction experienced.
 Based upon the identity of facilities for voice and modem-based credit card processing, it is found more likely than not that complaints regarding credit card processing are the result of components outside of Qwest’s system and control.

111. Although not common, some attempts to make calls are met with a busy signal.  Raw data from Qwest’s switch in the months prior to hearing does not indicate problems with failed or incomplete calls or other anomalies.  Although Qwest was aware of this proceeding, no data reporting for the Silverton switch was preserved and provided at hearing for the summer season.  In any event, there was no substantial evidence challenging the adequacy of voice telephone service and, as addressed below, Qwest will provide additional data regarding network operations addressed below.

112. While Mr. Bryndal points to the possibility of service disruptions of very short duration affecting data connections but not voice connections, taking the evidence as a whole, Complainants failed to show that any of Qwest’s facilities were more likely than not the cause of difficulties experienced.  More than one vendor uses more than one processor and different equipment for processing transactions.  However, little was shown as to the manner of processing or isolation of causes.  Notably, many vendors did not even contact their credit card processing companies to complain despite dissatisfaction with processing.

113. There is little documentary evidence to support Complainants’ contentions.  

114. Outdoor World’s experience as an official state wildlife agent is troubling.  However, the testimony was vague and reflects no in depth action or study to isolate causes.  It was admitted that concerns were never raised to anyone.  

115. Based upon limited microwave capacity, Mr. Swonger compares services provided in Silverton to dispensing water from a fire hydrant that is supplied by a garden hose.  No matter what bandwidth of service is sold in Silverton, the service provided cannot exceed capacity limitations of the microwave link upon which all telecommunications services are solely dependent. 

116. Some difficulties have been shown utilizing internet service for larger downloads.  Mr. Maisel is often forced to have his clients email large files to his wife’s email account outside of Silverton/San Juan.  Complaints are made regarding internet connectivity; however, the Commission does not regulate the quality of internet service provided by Qwest.

117. Silverton is obviously a small population center located in a very rural part of the state.  One must necessarily consider the population size weighing the quantity of evidence presented.  While Qwest argues the testimony of a few witnesses might be anecdotal, the testimony must be considered in light of all surrounding circumstances (e.g., size of the total population).

118. While Qwest argues that meeting performance standards under its current AFOR conclusively resolves the adequacy of service, such advocacy is rejected.  As cited above, the Commission made clear that provision for automatic remedies does not preclude the Commission’s complaint jurisdiction.  However, based upon the entirety of evidence, Complainants failed to show inadequacy of Qwest’s service.  Also, to support the requested relief, there is no showing that microwave transmission is the cause of any failure on Qwest’s part as to the provision of basic services.

119. Complainants contend that Mr. Bryndal’s history of testing over approximately two years prior to hearing demonstrates inadequacy of service.  However, credibility of testing suffers in some aspects.  There is no documentation of historical testing. Also, Mr. Bryndal describes the unavailability of Qwest’s network for approximately 45 minutes one evening during hearing in this matter (e.g., well beyond the potential 150 millisecond issue addressed elsewhere).  Through Qwest’s showing of the independence of circuit functionality, Mr. Bryndal asserts that if the microwave link is unavailable for one circuit it is more likely than not unavailable for another circuit.  Based upon his own logic, he would contend that Qwest’s basic local exchange service was not provided (at least to calls outside of Silverton) for such 45‑minute period.

120. Qwest’s network operations center monitors its network and is promptly notified of network outages.  Although the precise length of outage causing reporting was not shown, it is more likely than not substantially less than 45 minutes.

121. In response to Mr. Bryndal’s testimony, Qwest presented testimony of the lack of any outage reporting at the network operation center consistent with Mr. Bryndal’s findings.  The irreconcilable experience and lack of corroborating testimony, combined with a lack of documentation supporting historical testing does not establish inadequate service within the Commission’s jurisdiction.

122. Qwest maintains its network in the ordinary course of business and tested local loops of some of the disclosed witnesses and corrected problems found.

123. Factually, there was no showing that Qwest’s service is the cause of problems shown regarding modem connections.  There was no attempt to show that credit card processing problems were isolated to telephone service.  Additionally, the vacuum of evidence as to inadequacy of voice service over identical facilities indicates a cause external to Qwest’s system, without further showing.

3. Universal Access to Advanced Services

124. “For purposes of this part 2, except as otherwise provided in this title, each provider of basic local exchange service is declared to be affected with a public interest and a public utility subject to the provisions of articles 1 to 7 of this title, so far as applicable.”  §‑40‑15-201, C.R.S.  Basic local exchange service and basic emergency service are Part 2 services.

125. Section 40-15-502, C.R.S., expresses state policy.  Regarding basic service, it provides:  

Basic service is the availability of high quality, minimum elements of telecommunications services, as defined by the commission, at just, reasonable, and affordable rates to all people of the state of Colorado. The commission shall conduct a proceeding when appropriate, but no later than July 1, 1999, and no less frequently than every three years to consider the revision of the definition of basic service, with the goal that every citizen of this state shall have access to a wider range of services at rates that are reasonably comparable as between urban and rural areas.

§ 40-15-502(2), C.R.S.

126. Universal access to advanced service to all telecommunications consumers in this state is also a policy goal of the State of Colorado:  “The general assembly acknowledges the goal of universal access to advanced service to all telecommunications consumers in this state.”  § 40-15-502(4), C.R.S.  

127. The Commission is directed to consider the impact of opening entry to the local exchange market and shall determine whether additional support mechanisms may be necessary to promote this goal if competition for local exchange services fails to deliver advanced services in all areas of the state.  Id.
128. Section 502(4), enacted in 1995 and not subsequently amended, does not define Advanced Services.  There is no definition of Advanced Services in Title 40.  This provision has not been often litigated at the Commission.  

129. Shortly after enactment of § 40-15-502, C.R.S., the Commission specifically sought comment regarding access to advanced services.  In Docket No. 98I-213T, the Commission considered access to advanced services in the context of the definition of basic service, which is supported through the Colorado High Cost Support Mechanism.  The Commission noted that public comment regarding telecommunications service often blur a “basic service” and an “advanced service” and sought further comment in a proceeding to consider the definition of basic local exchange service.  See Decision No. C98-0481, Docket No. 98I-213T, issued May 19, 1998.  Concepts addressed in the rulemaking proceeding included contemplation of a specific advanced service support mechanism or advanced service standard.  Despite many references in Docket No. 99R-027T, the undersigned found no further proceeding and no party advocates any such proceeding.
130. The working definition of Advanced Services has become those services that are not part of basic service.  Thus, proceedings to consider expansion of the definition of basic service have focused upon movement from Advanced Service to Basic Service.  For example, the Report of the Staff of the Public Utilities Commission, dated February 19, 1999, in Docket No. 99R-027T, considered expansion of the definition of basic service to encompass a specific data transmission speed threshold.  As to that threshold, Staff cautioned commenters that at some point faster data speed becomes an advanced service.  

131. The Commission regularly reviews the definition of basic local exchange service in accordance with § 40-15-502(2), C.R.S.  The Commission investigated the definition of basic local exchange service in 1999 (Docket No. 98I-213T), 2002 (Docket No. 02I-251T), 2006 (Docket No. 06I-084T), and 2009 (Docket No. 09I-493T). No material changes were made to the definition through those dockets. 
132. Qwest argues that § 40-15-502(4), C.R.S., provides no authority to mandate universal access to advanced services.  Rather, the Commission may only consider additional support mechanisms to “promote” universal service.

133. Qwest’s advocacy as to the Commission’s jurisdiction is too restrictive.  Under Qwest’s interpretation of the section, the Commission’s jurisdiction would be limited to throwing money to promote a purpose without any ability to enforce or direct funding for the purpose.  Such a narrow interpretation of the Commission’s jurisdiction is not reasonable.
134. No party has pointed to prior interpretation of § 40-15-502(4), C.R.S.

135. The Colorado Legislature’s statement of policy in § 40-15-502(4), C.R.S., is analogous to 47 U.S.C. § 1302(a): “each State commission with regulatory jurisdiction over telecommunications services shall encourage the deployment...”   This phrase has been interpreted to direct the exercise of jurisdiction granted elsewhere, rather than as an independent grant of authority.  Comcast Corp. v. FCC, 600 F.3d 642, 658 (D.C. Cir. 2010).

136. The Supreme Court applied similar “encourage” language in US West Communs., Inc. v. Colorado PUC, 978 P.2d 671, 674 (Colo. 1999):

 [T]he General Assembly declared that "it is the policy of this state that all barriers to entry into the provision of telecommunications services in Colorado be removed as soon as practicable." 40-15-502(7), 11 C.R.S. (1998). Rather than proscribe specific barriers to entry, however, the General Assembly vested broad rulemaking authority in the PUC: "Local exchange telecommunications markets shall be open to competition, under conditions determined by the commission by rule." 40-15-502(1), 11 C.R.S. (1998). The General Assembly directed the PUC to design its rules in a manner that would "foster and encourage the emergence of a competitive telecommunications marketplace." 40-15-503(2)(a), 11 C.R.S. (1998).  
US West Communs., Inc. v. Colorado PUC, 978 P.2d 671, 674 (Colo. 1999) (notes omitted).

137. While the issue was not explicitly addressed by the Supreme Court, the law is applied similarly to that of the D.C. Circuit.  The expression of state policy was not relied upon as a grant of jurisdiction; rather it was applied as a statement of policy supporting authority found elsewhere.

138. Thus, the expression of State policy recognizing a goal of universal access to advanced service to all telecommunications consumers does not provide an independent basis of Commission jurisdiction.  However, the lack of a direct grant in § 40-15-502(4), C.R.S., is not determinative of the proceeding.  Rather, one must consider other sources of Commission jurisdiction to further state policy.

139. The only other reference to Advanced Services in Title 40 is found in the authorization of support mechanisms to support the goal incorporated into statute:

(5) Universal service support mechanisms. (a) In order to accomplish the goals of universal basic service, universal access to advanced service, and any revision of the definition of basic service under subsection (2) of this section, the commission shall create a system of support mechanisms to assist in the provision of such services in high-cost areas.  

§ 40-15-502(5), C.R.S.

140. The Commission has previously interpreted universal to mean ubiquitous.  See e.g., Decision No. C98-0481 at 4.  A member of the Commission’s Staff described universal to mean “ubiquitously available for capabilities when requested by a customer within their serving area.”  Hearing Transcript, Docket No. 99R-027T, April 8, 1999, at 18.

141. Addressing rules governing the High Cost Support Mechanism (HCSM), the Commission recognized that “the essential purpose of high cost funding is to promote the goal of universal service, that is, universal access to the public switched network.”  Decision No. C99‑0747, issued July 12, 1999,Docket No. 99R-028T at 4.  The Commission has cited § 40-15 502(5). C.R.S., including universal access to advanced services, to support the proposition that the HCSM is intended to aid or assist local exchange carriers in their provision of service in high cost areas.  Id. See also § 40-15-208(a), C.R.S.  
142. Addressing whether the High Cost Support Mechanism should provide support for more than one line, the Commission analyzed whether § 40-15-502(5), C.R.S., required high cost support for more than one line:

[W]e disagree with arguments by the OCC and USWC that the definition of “residential basic local exchange service,” for purposes of the statutory rate cap, is legally required to be the same as that term’s definition, for purposes of high cost support.

l.
We first emphasize that the statutes directing the Commission to establish a high cost support mechanism do not mandate that all access lines be supported, nor do the relevant statutes specify the manner in which the mechanism should support eligible services (e.g., how much support should be provided to eligible services).  For example, § 40-15-502(5), C.R.S., provides that:


In order to accomplish the goals of universal basic service, universal access to advanced service, and any revision of the definition of basic service under subsection (2) of this section, the commission shall create a system of support mechanisms to assist in the provision of such services in high cost areas. ...

(emphasis added).  Similarly, the recently amended § 40-15-208(2)(a), C.R.S., authorizes the Commission to establish a high cost support mechanism “to provide financial assistance to local exchange providers to help make basic local exchange service affordable...”  The Legislature has simply directed that the Commission establish a high cost mechanism which aids local exchange providers in their provision of service in high cost areas in accordance with rules adopted by the Commission….  Indeed, the $60,000,000 cap on the high cost fund (§ 40‑15‑208(2)(d)(1), C.R.S.) represents the Legislature’s acknowledgment that the high cost fund may not fully subsidize all local exchange services.
Decision No. C98-1166, mailed December 1, 1998, Docket No. 98D-370T at pp 7-8.

143. Based upon the foregoing, it is concluded that the HCSM furthers the State’s public policy goals by assisting Qwest (in this instance) to provide ubiquitous access to advanced services for all telecommunications consumers within its service territory, with acknowledgment that the high cost fund may not fully subsidize all local exchange services.  While the Commission’s jurisdiction permits direction of a support mechanism to expand universal access to advanced services, the Commission has declined to do so in the manner advocated by Complainants.

144.  “Historically, this Commission has pursued a rate averaging policy in order to promote affordable universal service in high-cost areas—of which there are many in Colorado.”  Decision No. C94-1165.  The Commission recognized “[u]nder this strategy, the rates of telephone subscribers in high-cost areas, especially rural areas of the state, have been set at levels similar to rates for subscribers in urban areas.  The relatively high cost-of-service for rural customers has been averaged with the lower cost-of-service for urban ratepayers, to set lower, averaged rates (especially for basic exchange service).”  Id. at 5.

145. “The Commission has followed certain policies, including rate averaging and requiring non-basic services to contribute to LECs' fixed, joint and common costs at the set levels, in furtherance of the goal of universal service.”  Id. at 8.

146. In Qwest’s current AFOR, Qwest has a limited ability to deaverage rates for products and services subject to Market Regulation.  See Decision No. C05-0802 at para 84-86 and Rule 2203(d).

147. There is no evidence of competitive market pressures influencing Qwest’s provision of service to Silverton at issue.  To the contrary, based upon the record evidence it is likely no competition exists due to the rural area and the small population served.

148. The Commission long ago adopted policies based upon statewide averaging of service prices.  While mechanisms have been established to subsidize service in higher cost areas, the utility is never guaranteed profitability on any individual component in its system.  Thus, a utility might be required to provide a given service to a given locale that would not be profitable in isolation.  In such a manner, statewide policies regarding universal service may be advanced.

149. Qwest states foundational concerns that construction of fiber to the San Juan County seat is not cost justified based upon projected subscription.  Qwest does not dispute San Juan’s showing regarding reserved capacity under the MNT Contract and showed no consideration thereof in its project analysis.  In any event, such a narrow test is not appropriate and would likely be true on many one-off facilities statewide.  Such an isolated analysis ignores consideration of long-standing policies addressed above furthering universal service.  

150. Qwest’s argument that there is no other mandate subject to the Commission’s jurisdiction requiring construction of fiber to Silverton merits consideration.  In fact, the Commission has rejected advocacy to mandate universal access. 

151. In each proceeding where the Commission has considered modifications to the definition of basic service to expand universal access to advanced services, the impact upon rates associated with requested modifications has been a central theme.

152. As recent as 2009, the Commission considered mandating expansion of universal access to advanced services, but declined to do so.  The Commission adopted the Report of the Staff of the Public Utilities Commission, dated December 16, 2009, in Decision No. C09-1411, Docket No. 09I-493T, finding:  

H.
Should basic service be expanded to include access to broadband service?  If so, should the LITAP discount apply to qualifying low-income customers?

No.  There is no evidence that such an expansion would be welcomed by consumers, nor that it is necessary at this time. In a consumer survey conducted by Ciruli and Associates on behalf of the Commission in 2007, 85 percent of respondents indicated that they were unwilling to have their phone bill increased, “by a couple dollars per month”, in order to allow broadband access to all customers throughout the state.

153. Respondents contend that the MNT Contract creates a new statewide level of access to advanced services and that § 40-15-502(4), C.R.S., requires universal access to those advanced services.  While there may be a new level of service in some aspects, the Commission has not mandated construction of facilities to provide universal access to advanced services, and advocacy that § 502(4) mandates such service is rejected based upon the analysis above.  In absence of any Commission requirement or mandate, Complainants failed to show that Qwest has violated tariffs, Commission rules, or Colorado law in this regard.

154. Although standards of service may be established by utility operations, Complainants failed to show entitlement to a remedy for violation of standards within the scope of the Commission’s jurisdiction and the exercise of jurisdiction to date. Claims that Qwest has violated §40-15-502(4), C.R.S., must fail.  

155. Rule 2308(b) further requires Qwest to construct and maintain its telecommunications network so as to provide for universal (i.e., ubiquitous) availability of basic service as well as E-9-1-1 service within its serving area.  As Qwest argues, Rule 2335 further addresses provisioning of service during maintenance or emergencies.

156. Specifically addressing universal service standards, Rule 2308(b) mandates universal access to all advanced services (e.g., those dependent upon fiber facilities advocated).  Current standards focus upon specified functionality and are technology neutral.  Complainants failing to show inadequacy of service required by Rule 2308 that necessitates provision of fiber, no basis for the requested relief is shown. 

157. Complainants next allege that Qwest violated Rule 2333 mandating that "'[T]he telecommunications plant of the provider shall be constructed, installed, maintained and operated in accordance with good engineering practice in the telecommunications industry to assure, as far as reasonably possible, uniformity in the quality of service provided and the safety of persons and property." 4 CCR 723-2333.
158. Qwest points out that Rule 2333 requires only "requires engineering facilities to achieve uniform service” and does not require installation of fiber.  

159. Rule 2333 includes a standard and a stated purpose.  The standard is that plant shall be constructed, installed, maintained and operated in accordance with good engineering practice in the telecommunications industry.  The purpose for such requirement is stated to assure, as far as reasonably possible, uniformity in the quality of service provided and the safety of persons and property.  

160. Complainants seek to mandate uniformity in quality of service as the standard.

161. To the contrary, Rule 2334(c) establishes a presumption that plant constructed, installed, maintained, or operated in accordance with the National Electric Safety Code in effect at the time of its construction or installation complies with accepted good engineering practice in the telecommunications industry.

162. Complainants failed to overcome presumed compliance with accepted good engineering practice in the telecommunications industry.  Allegations that Qwest violated Rule 2333 must fail.  

163. Complainants next argue a loss of economic opportunity based upon Qwest’s service via microwave link.  However, the facts upon which Complainants present their argument fail to demonstrate a failure upon Qwest’s part to provide adequate service in compliance with Commission rules and orders as well as Colorado law.  Further, no basis is shown upon which relief may be granted.

164. Except as to the provision of 9-1-1 service addressed further below, Complainants failed to show that Qwest's network, including the microwave facility, is not designed and does not satisfy each of the technical requirements in the "Services Provided to the Public" subchapter of the Commission's rules (4 CCR 723-2 §§ 2300-2364).

4. Provision of 9-1-1

165. Silverton is uniquely dependent upon on a single facility to provide any of the telecommunications service into the valley.  Should that facility fail, no one could contact Qwest via landline, cellular telephone, or internet.

166. Silverton is home to some of the most severe terrain and harshest weather conditions in the state.  The area is considered to have the highest frequency of avalanches in the lower 48 states.

167. Mr. Swonger describes events that strained the emergency medical and response system.  Approximately ten years prior, a winter storm caught hundreds of bicyclist on Molar pass.  The town had to deal with literally hundreds of hypothermia cases immediately.  The tourism-based economy might also lend to problems from train or bus accidents.

168. Significant testimony was presented at hearing regarding an isolated disruption of 9-1-1 service caused by an avalanche in January 2005.  The avalanche caused a commercial power failure of a line supplying power to Qwest facilities on Coal Bank, a microwave relay tower.  Because a back-up power generator failed, the system was solely supported by battery backup power.  No communications could be had that were dependent upon the microwave link.
  

169. Qwest personnel responded from Durango upon notification through Qwest’s network center.  Upon notification of commercial power failure at approximately 4:30 p.m. on “Day 1,” efforts commenced to access the facilities.  Although the battery backup provides a design capacity of four to eight hours of power, at approximately 10:00 a.m. on Day 2, the microwave link was lost due to exhaustion of the battery backup.  

170. Due to weather conditions and ongoing avalanche control, roadways were closed to access Coal Bank or Silverton.  The facility could not be accessed.  As soon as the Colorado Department of Transportation would permit use of roadways, Qwest continued efforts to access the disabled facility.  After impressive efforts, the microwave link was restored at approximately 4:30 p.m. on Day 2 – approximately 24 hours after notification.

171. Notably, this is an isolated occurrence and Qwest has since upgraded to their system affecting the microwave link, including the supply of backup electric generation.

172. Commission rules establish standards for 9-1-1 service in Colorado.  Complainants failed to show that Qwest’s network fails to meet those requirements.  Even prior to the upgrade of facilities, battery power for the microwave link clearly exceeded minimum requirements found in Rule 2335(b).  

173. Rule 2001(b) defines access to emergency services as meaning “access to services, such as 9-1-1 and E-9-1-1, provided by local governments or other public safety organizations to the extent the local government or the public safety organization in a LEC’s service area has implemented 9-1-1 or E-9-1-1 systems.”  

174. Thus, Rule 2308(a) requires Qwest to provide access to E-9-1-1 to all customers within its service area.  Rule 2308(b) also requires universal availability of E-9-1-1 service for customers within a service area.  

175. The current PSAP designated for San Juan is located in Montrose.

176. Qwest provides E-9-1-1 service in San Juan.  Call processing is represented in S/SJ DR 1-23 Confidential Attachment A.  During times when the microwave link is not available, 9-1-1 calls placed in Silverton are automatically routed to the San Juan County Sheriff’s Office in Silverton, which is only staffed during normal business hours and served by a single line telephone.

177. Complainants contend that Qwest must provide diverse 9-1-1 service in order to meet basic service requirements.  Rule 2308(a), 4 CCR 723-2.  Claimants contend diversity is a necessary element in sustaining the universal and ubiquitous access to emergency services or to E-9-1-1 services the provision of adequate, efficient, just, and reasonable access to emergency services.  Because Qwest admits that it does not provide diverse 9-1-1 service, Complainants contend they effectively admit a violation of Rule 2308(a).
178. Qwest counters that it provides adequate basic service in compliance with Commission rules and argues that an occasional outage experienced does not evidence a failure of universal service.  Qwest contends the network, in Silverton, is engineered and designed to meet or exceed Commission standards and that provision of diverse 9-1-1 is not required by Commission rule.  Further, Silverton is similarly situated to other wire centers in Colorado that are not provided fully-diverse 9-1-1 service. 

179. Rule 2308(a) requires Qwest to construct and maintain its telecommunications network so that the instrumentalities, equipment, and facilities within the network shall be adequate, efficient, just, and reasonable in all respects in order to provide access to emergency services to each of its customers within its service area.

180. Qwest correctly argues that Commission rules do not explicitly mandate diversity in 9-1-1 connections or that service be provided over fiber rather than microwave.  Fiber as opposed to microwave can address diversity, but not necessarily redundancy (i.e., either facility is capable of redundancy).  As Qwest notes, other wire centers are not provided diverse 9‑1‑1‑service.  

181. No party points to any prior Commission decisions addressing diverse routing for 9-1-1 service.  The undersigned only found this issue addressed in Decision No. C00-0297, Docket No. 00A-0665T, mailed March 28, 2000, where the Commission approved a portion of $40 million in capital expenditures stipulated in Docket No. 97A-540T to improve telephone service.  The Commission approved 911-related infrastructure improvements; placement of fiber to improve/upgrade existing radio routes; and placement of fiber to create redundancy for existing facilities.  Augmentation of radio routes was found to “improve diversity for critical services, especially 911, and reduce the risk of isolation for many of the rural communities.”  Decision No. C00-0297 at para. 6. Rates were not addressed as funding was provided pursuant to the comprehensive settlement.

182. Rule 2143(a) also requires:  

Facilities for 9-1-1 service shall be diversely routed, using different circuit routes wherever feasible. When the governing body requests diverse routing, the BESP shall develop cost-based tariff rates for diverse routing of 9-1-1 circuits.
183. The cited portion of Rule 2143 has not changed at least since the adoption of rules in Docket No. 01R-422T.  No comments regarding the provision in various rulemakings were addressed specifically in a Commission decision. 

184. Considering the entirety of the record, feasibility of providing a diverse 9‑1‑1 circuit from Durango to Silverton has been established.  Although not without challenges and perhaps at least partially beyond past experience of Qwest personnel, Mr. Bryndal showed that fiber construction to Silverton is more likely than not feasible along multiple routes.  His initial estimate of cost is between 7 and 9 million dollars to construct the facility in the right of way of the Durango and Silverton Narrow Gauge Railway, excluding right-of-way, tax, and maintenance costs.  Without regard to the facility utilized (e.g., copper or fiber), it has been shown more likely than not feasible to provide a diverse 9-1-1 circuit from Durango to Silverton.  

185. Based upon the evidence presented, Complainants failed to show that Qwest’s network does not provide ubiquitous access to emergency services.  While Complainants argue that diversity should be required, they failed to show violation of any Commission standard for failing to provide diverse 9-1-1 service.  

186. First, there was no showing of diverse circuits serving any PSAP in the state.  Secondly, diversity is sought as part of the definition of basic service for Silverton when San Juan’s PSAP is located in Montrose.  Thus, Complainants’ logic would require every telephone in the state to have diverse circuits for providing 9-1-1 service.  The Commission has no such requirement.

187. Additionally, the most notable aspects of evidence regarding Qwest’s network regards the MNT project.  The MNT backbone generally permits diversity by the nature of ring construction.  However, no showing was made as to the extent thereof.  Hearing Exhibit 11 at 8.  Only five Super Aggregated Network Access Points required diverse WAN link paths and such points are located on State-owned property (i.e., not Qwest facilities).  Hearing Exhibit 2 at 33.  Only five ANAPs are required to enable a redundant and diverse network.  Id. at 36.  

188. Complainants contend that diverse routing of 9-1-1 circuits should serve Silverton.  A governing body can request diverse routing of 9-1-1 circuits.  Rule 2143, 4 CCR 723-2.  However, because there is a cost impact different from the requested relief in the Complaint, Complainants will not be bound to such request.  

5. Future Monitoring

189. In its closing Statement of Position, Qwest offers:

to report to the Commission several key service quality metrics for the Silverton wire center for twelve months following the final order in this matter:

• Non-designed trouble report rate.

• Percent dial tone delivered within 3 seconds. 

• Percent of calls completed -- EAS trunks and intraLATA trunks.

• Capacity utilization for allocated telephone service circuits. 

For the service quality metrics defined by the Commission, Qwest will report using current methodologies at the greatest level of granularity available for the Silverton wire center.  If Qwest fails to meet these targets for the Silverton wire center in more than one month (even if the applicable standard is a statewide standard), Qwest will provide the Commission and Complainants with a detailed root cause analysis and a remedy action plan.

190. In light of the fact that some data is only available for limited duration, and to make information available for the peak periods that are the primary focus of Complainants’ claims (e.g., raw and summarized data), Qwest will be ordered to report to the Commission as proposed by Qwest.  

191. As to any reporting quantifying any aspect of system outage, reports filed with the Commission shall specify the minimum outage duration recorded, if known (e.g., 150 milliseconds).

192. In accordance with § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the Administrative Law Judge recommends that the Commission enter the following Order.

III. ORDER
A. The Commission Orders That:

1. Qwest Corporation’s (Qwest) Motion to Limit Hearing Testimony to Issues in Complaint filed December 10, 2011 is denied without prejudice.  This Decision memorializes the ruling announced at hearing.

2. The Joint Statement of Stipulated Facts is accepted and approved.

3. The Complaint filed by Complainants the Town of Silverton, Colorado (Silverton) and San Juan County, Colorado (San Juan) against Qwest, as amended, is dismissed. 
4. Qwest shall file reports with the Commission documenting the following key service quality metrics for the Silverton wire center for 12 months following the final order in this matter:


• Non-designed trouble report rate.


• Percent dial tone delivered within 3 seconds. 


• Percent of calls completed -- EAS trunks and intraLATA trunks.


• Capacity utilization for allocated telephone service circuits. 

5. For the service quality metrics defined by the Commission, Qwest shall report using current methodologies at the greatest level of granularity available for the Silverton wire center.  As to any reporting quantifying any aspect of system outage, reports filed with the Commission shall include unavailability or outages of a duration exceeding 150 milliseconds, if that level of granularity is available.  If not available, such reports shall specify the minimum duration capable of being reported.
6. If Qwest fails to meet targets for the Silverton wire center in more than one month (even if the applicable standard is a statewide standard), Qwest shall provide the Commission and Complainants with a detailed root cause analysis and a remedy action plan addressing such failure.
7. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

8. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.

If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.

9. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.
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Doug Dean, 
Director
	THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO


G. HARRIS ADAMS
________________________________
                     Administrative Law Judge










� An OC-3 connection is a bandwidth. Within the OC-3 facility, there are three Digital Service Level 3 (DS-3) circuits. Each of these circuits provides 45 Mbps capacity.  A DS-3 is equivalent to 28 Digital Service Level 1 (DS-1) circuits (aDS1 circuit provides 1.5 Mbps capacity and is equivalent to a T-1 circuit).  A DS1 is equivalent to 24 Digital Service Level 0 (DS-0) circuits, each providing equivalent capacity to a single basic service access line.


� Each time the network touches a device, it comes off the air, fiber, or copper cable, there is a regeneration function and retransmission function.  Each such step is referred to as a “hop.” 


� The Federal Communications Commission recently confirmed the importance of microwave technology to aid its broadband deployment goals.


� Four Mbps second is the more common experience.


� Decision Nos. C99-222 issued March 10, 1999, and C99-407 issued April 22, 1999, approved the original stipulation in Docket No. 97A-540T.


� As constructed, the cable system is not capable of providing Internet service.  Upgrading the system to provide internet service is not financially viable.


� At hearing, Mr. Maisel testified this is the telephone line used at the Bent Elbow for credit card processing.


� These terms are not consistently applied in MNT project documents.


�    § 24-4-205(7), C.R.S.  


�  Rule 1500 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure, 4 CCR 723-1.


�  Rule 1500, 4 CCR 723-1.


�  Section 13-25-127(1), C.R.S.; Rule 1500 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure, 4 CCR 723-1.  


�  Swain v. Colorado Department of Revenue, 717 P.2d 507 (Colo. App. 1985).  


� Decision No. C08-1182, citing § 13-25-127, C.R.S. and W. Distributing Co. v. Diodosio, 841 P.2d 1053 (Colo. 1992).


� Qwest’s advocacy that the quality of its service is measured solely based upon the number of subscribers is misplaced and rejected.  While not determinative in the proceeding, Qwest’s obligations are to serve the public convenience and necessity.  Such obligations to the public encompass subscribers as well as non-subscribers, including tourists.


� Local calling within the Town of Silverton was unaffected.
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